RECEIVED

Aug 04 2026

SC Court of Appeals

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LANCASTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Robert E. Hood, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2025-CP-29-00096
Appellate Case No. 2026-000227

South Carolina Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co. Appellant,

v.

John Milin and Angela M. Leone..... Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Respectfully submitted,

s/J.R. Murphy

J.R. Murphy, Esquire
Murphy & Grantland, P.A.
P.O. Box 6648
Columbia, SC 29260
(803) 782-4100
Attorney for Appellant

Columbia, South Carolina
August 4, 2026

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the Circuit Court improperly refused to enforce an “escape” clause in a Farm Bureau Farm Policy, finding it mutually repugnant to the “excess” clause in the Farm Bureau Homeowners Policy issued to the same insured.**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In this appeal, South Carolina Farm Bureau Mutual Insurance Company (“Farm Bureau”) seeks to have the Court enforce a farm policy escape clause as written. Farm Bureau issued two policies to Angela Leone – a Homeowners Policy and a Farm Policy. The policies were intended to cover separate liabilities, and the Farm Policy included an escape clause to prevent overlapping coverage for the same liability. On June 13, 2023, a dog bite incident occurred adjacent to the insured’s home while John Milin was cutting her fenced-in yard. As a result of the incident, John Milin filed suit against Angela Leone. Farm Bureau is providing a defense to Angela Leone under its Homeowners Policy and has tendered the Homeowners Policy’s \$300,000 liability limit to John Milin.

Farm Bureau filed this declaratory judgment action seeking a declaration that the escape clause in its Farm Policy is enforceable, and, consequently, the Farm Policy provides no liability coverage for the dog bite incident. Farm Bureau and John Milin filed cross motions for summary judgment. The Circuit Court refused to enforce the escape clause and granted Milin summary judgment. Farm Bureau appealed.

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

I. The Underlying Action

On August 15, 2024, John Milin filed suit in the Lancaster County Court of Common Pleas against Angela Leone, Civil Action No. 2024-CP-29-01058 (hereinafter the “Underlying Action”). (R. pp. 149-155). The complaint in the Underlying Action alleges that on June 13, 2023 John Milin

was cutting the grass at Angela Leone's property when he was attacked by her dog. (*Id.* at ¶¶ 3-12). The complaint in the Underlying Action alleges that John Milin sustained injuries as a result of the dog attack. (*Id.* at ¶ 12). It alleges that the incident took place on Angela Leone's property located at 3135 Old Hickory Road in Lancaster, South Carolina. (*Id.* at ¶¶ 3-4).

II. The Farm Bureau Homeowners Policy

Farm Bureau issued a homeowners policy, Policy No. HO 0482350, to Angela Leone with effective dates of February 9, 2023 to October 7, 2023 (the "Homeowners Policy"). (R. pp. 158-229). The Homeowners Policy lists the residence premises as 3135 Old Hickory Road, Lancaster, South Carolina. (*Id.* at p. 161). The Homeowners Policy provides a \$300,000 personal liability limit. (*Id.*). Farm Bureau is providing a defense for Angela Leone in the Underlying Action under the Homeowners Policy. (R. p. 352 ¶ 4). Farm Bureau has tendered the Homeowners Policy's \$300,000 personal liability limit to counsel for John Milin for the claims he alleges against Angela Leone in the Underlying Action. (*Id.* at ¶ 5). The Homeowners Policy provides liability coverage for the claims alleged against Angela Leone in the Underlying Action. *See* (Homeowners Policy, R. pp. 158-229). Despite Farm Bureau having tendered its liability limit under the Homeowners Policy to Defendant John Milin for the June 13, 2023 incident, he continues to make claims for liability coverage under the Farm Policy for the June 13, 2023 incident.

III. The Farm Bureau Farm Policy

Farm Bureau also issued a farm policy, Policy No. 390100000547, to Angela Leone with effective dates of October 6, 2022 to October 6, 2023 (the "Farm Policy"). (R. pp. 17-148). The Farm Policy lists the farm location as 3135 Old Hickory Road, Lancaster, South Carolina. (*Id.* at p. 19). The Farm Policy provides coverage to persons qualifying as insureds for liability arising

out of certain risks set forth in the insuring agreement and excludes certain risks through the policy exclusions and limitations. The Farm Policy provides in pertinent part:

SECTION III – FARM LIABILITY CONDITIONS

The following conditions apply in addition to the Common Policy Conditions:
Loss Conditions

6. Other Insurance

This condition applies only if, in addition to the insurance provided under this Coverage Form, the “insured” has other insurance under this or any other policy covering the same obligations to pay damages and provide defense against “suits” for damages.

- a. We will pay only the portion of covered damages and related defense costs that the applicable Limit of Insurance under this Coverage Form bears to the total amount of all your insurance, in covered “occurrences” arising from any cause except the ownership, maintenance, use, operation or “loading or unloading” of a:
 - (1) “Motor vehicle”;
 - (2) Vehicle which qualifies as “mobile equipment” only while used on premises you own or rent; or
 - (3) Watercraft.
- b. In covered “occurrences” arising from the ownership, maintenance, operation, use, or “loading or unloading” of a conveyance described in Paragraphs a.(1), (2) or (3) above, this insurance will not apply to the extent that any collectible insurance, whether primary, excess or contingent, is available to any “insured”.

INSURANCE UNDER MORE THAN ONE POLICY

This endorsement modifies insurance provided under the following:

FARM LIABILITY COVERAGE FORM

The following Paragraph c. is added to Loss Condition **6. Other Insurance** in Section **III – Farm Liability Conditions**:

- c. However, regardless of the provisions of Paragraphs **a.** and **b.** above, this Policy does not apply to any loss or damage or defense against a "suit" which:
 - (1) Is covered under any other policy or any renewal or replacement thereof;or

- (2) Would be covered under another policy or any renewal or replacement thereof, had the limits of such policy not been exhausted.

(*Id.* at pp. 118-119, 127). Thus, the Farm Policy does not provide liability coverage for any loss or damage or defense against any suit which is covered under any other policy or would be covered had the limits of such policy not been exhausted.

IV. The Procedural History

On January 24, 2025, Farm Bureau filed the present action seeking a declaration that the Farm Policy does not provide any liability coverage for any injuries or damages resulting from the June 13, 2023 incident and Farm Bureau has no duty to defend Angela Leone under the Farm Policy against any suits resulting from such incident. (R. pp. 11-16 ¶¶ 17-22). John Milin and Farm Bureau filed cross motions for summary judgment, Farm Bureau filed a Memorandum in Support of its Motion for Summary Judgment, and Angela Leone filed a Memorandum in Support of Milin's Motion for Summary Judgment. (Milin Mot. for Summ. J., R. pp. 247-258); (Farm Bureau Mot. for Summ. J., R. pp. 259-260); (Farm Bureau Mem. in Support, R. pp. 261-270); (Leone Mem. in Support, R. pp. 486-490).

On September 3, 2025, the Circuit Court held a hearing on the Motions. (R. p. 1). On October 27, 2025, the Circuit Court entered an Order granting Milin's Motion for Summary Judgment and denying Farm Bureau's Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. pp. 1-6). The Circuit Court held that the Farm Policy's "Insurance Under More Than One Policy" endorsement was unenforceable. (R. pp. 3-4). The Circuit Court further held that the Farm Policy's escape clause was "mutually repugnant to the Homeowners Policy's excess clause." (R. p. 4). On October 31, 2025, Farm Bureau filed a Motion to Alter or Amend the Order or, In the Alternative, Motion to

Clarify. (R. pp. 491-499). By Form 4 Order dated January 13, 2026, the Circuit Court denied Farm Bureau's Motion. (R. pp. 7-9). This appeal followed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“When reviewing the grant of a summary judgment motion, appellate courts apply the same standard that governs the trial court under Rule 56(c), SCRPC....” *USAA Prop. & Cas. Ins. Co. v. Clegg*, 377 S.C. 643, 653, 661 S.E.2d 791, 796 (2008) “Whether coverage exists under an insurance contract is a question of law for the Court. Further, cross-motions for summary judgment are treated as questions of law.” *Progressive Direct Ins. Co. v. Groves*, 438 S.C. 26, 31, 882 S.E.2d 464, 466 (2022) (citations omitted). “As to questions of law, this court's standard of review is de novo.” *Pearson v. Richland Cnty.*, 445 S.C. 246, 249, 912 S.E.2d 286, 288 (Ct. App. 2025) (citation omitted). “An appellate court may decide questions of law with no particular deference to the trial court.” *Id.* (citation omitted).

ARGUMENT

Farm Bureau issued two policies to Angela Leone – a Homeowners Policy and a Farm Policy. The policies were intended to cover separate liabilities, and the Farm Policy included an escape clause to prevent overlapping coverage for the same liability. Under South Carolina law, the Farm Policy's escape clause is enforceable as written. It precludes liability coverage for any loss or damage or defense against a suit which is covered under any other policy. The Homeowners Policy provides liability coverage for the June 13, 2023 dog bite incident. Farm Bureau is providing a defense and indemnification to its named insured under the Homeowners Policy. (R. pp. 352-353 ¶¶ 4-5). Therefore, the Farm Policy's escape clause is enforceable in accordance with its plain terms. Moreover, contrary to the Circuit Court's holding, the “excess” clause in the Homeowners Policy is not mutually repugnant with the “escape” clause in the Farm Policy.

Therefore, the Circuit Court's holding should be reversed, and Farm Bureau should be granted summary judgment.

I. Under South Carolina law, the Escape Clause is enforceable as written.

"Insurance companies and insureds are generally free to contract for exclusions or limitations on coverage." *Nationwide Ins. Co. of Am. v. Knight*, 433 S.C. 371, 375, 858 S.E.2d 633, 635 (2021). "[I]nsurers have the right to limit their liability and to impose conditions on their obligations provided they are not in contravention of public policy or a statutory prohibition." *South Carolina Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co. v. Dawsey*, 371 S.C. 353, 356, 638 S.E.2d 103, 104 (2006). Courts "must enforce, not write, contracts of insurance and . . . must give policy language its plain, ordinary and popular meaning." *Fritz-Pontiac-Cadillac-Buick v. Goforth*, 312 S.C. 315, 318, 440 S.E.2d 367, 369 (1994). "[P]arties have a right to make their own contract and it is not the function of the court to rewrite it or torture the meaning of a policy to extend coverage never intended by the parties." *Torrington Co. v. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co.*, 264 S.E.2d 636, 643, 216 S.E.2d 547, 550 (1975). Therefore if "the contract's language is clear and unambiguous, the language alone determines the contract's force and effect." *Ballard v. Admiral Ins. Co.*, 442 S.C. 22, 34, 897 S.E.2d 183, 189 (Ct. App. 2023); *see also Bell v. Progressive Direct Ins. Co.*, 407 S.C. 565, 579, 757 S.E.2d 399, 406 (2014) ("Thus, when a contract is unambiguous, clear, and explicit, it must be construed according to the terms the parties have used.") (citation omitted). "The court's duty is limited to the interpretation of the contract made by the parties themselves" *B.L.G. Enterprises, Inc. v. First Financial Ins. Co.*, 334 S.C. 549, 535, 514 S.E.2d 327, 330 (1999) (cleaned up) (citations omitted).

The Farm Policy provision at issue states: "[T]his Policy does not apply to any loss or damage or defense against a "suit" which [i]s covered under any other policy...or [w]ould be

covered under another policy...had the limits of such policy not been exhausted.” (Farm Policy, R. p. 464). The provision at issue is a type of “escape clause” – “which provides that an insurer is absolved of all liability if other coverage is available.” *South Carolina Ins. Co. v. Fid. & Guar. Ins. Underwriters, Inc.*, 327 S.C. 207, 211, 489 S.E.2d 200, 202 (1997). Farm Bureau is paying for the insured’s defense in the Underlying Action under the Homeowners Policy. (R. pp. 352- 353 ¶ 4). Farm Bureau is also providing indemnity for the insured under the Homeowners Policy. (*Id.* at ¶ 5). The Homeowners Policy provides coverage for the claims in the Underlying Action. Therefore, the Farm Policy provision applies according to its plain terms. The Farm Policy does not apply to the loss, damages, or defense in the Underlying Action because they are “covered under another policy” – the Homeowners Policy. (Farm Policy, R. p. 464). This does not leave the named insured without any liability coverage. She has liability coverage under the Homeowners Policy for the incident at issue. The escape clause in the Farm Policy simply prevents overlapping, double coverage for the same insured and same incident.

No South Carolina statute or public policy prevents enforcement of an escape clause, particularly when the same insurer has issued another policy to the same insured that provides coverage for the loss at issue. See *Ferromontan, Inc. v. Georgetown Steel Corp.*, 535 F. Supp. 1198, 1213 (D.S.C. 1982), *aff’d*, 758 F.2d 646 (4th Cir. 1985), and *aff’d sub nom. Raw Material Corp. v. Ryan-Walsh Stevedoring Co.*, 758 F.2d 648 (4th Cir. 1985) (enforcing escape clause and citing numerous other cases that have enforced them). The South Carolina Supreme Court has sustained the validity of escape clauses where only one of two policies contains such a clause. In *Spann v. Phoenix Ins. Co. of Hartford, Conn.*, 83 S.C. 262, 65 S.E. 232 (1909), the court upheld the validity of an escape clause which stated:

The entire policy... shall be void, if the insured now has or shall hereafter make or procure any other contract of insurance, whether valid or not, on the property covered ...by this policy.

Id. at 232. The court held that the policy was voided by the purchase of additional insurance by the insured. This principle was reiterated in *Camden Wholesale Grocery v. Nat'l Fire Ins. Co. of Hartford, Conn.*, 106 S.C. 467, 91 S.E. 732, 734 (1917), *Young v. St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co.*, 68 S.C. 387, 47 S.E. 681, 682 (1904), and *Walker v. Queen Ins. Co.*, 136 S.C. 144, 134 S.E. 263, 273 (1926).

In short, these South Carolina cases indicate that escape clauses such as the one present in the Farm Policy are valid and are to be construed and applied according to their plain terms. With respect to these clauses, a policy of insurance is nothing more than a contract between the insurance carrier and its insured and is to be governed by the ordinary rules of contract interpretation. Moreover, Farm Bureau – being the same entity that issued both the Homeowners Policy and the Farm Policy to the same named insured – was aware of its other policy issued to this insured when setting the premium rates for the policies.¹ As demonstrated by the escape clause, it did not intend to provide liability coverage under the Farm Policy for a loss covered under the Homeowners Policy.

II. Contrary to the Circuit Court’s holding, the “excess” clause in the Farm Bureau Homeowners Policy is not mutually repugnant with the “escape” clause in the Farm Bureau Farm Policy.

Contrary to the Circuit Court’s legal conclusions, the Farm Policy’s escape clause does not “conflict[] with the Homeowners Policy’s excess Framework, creating a circular conflict” nor are the excess clause and escape clause “mutually repugnant.” *See* (October 27, 2025 Order, R. pp. 2,

¹ Both policies were obtained from insurance agent Tom Baker. *Compare* (Homeowners Policy, R. pp. 160-161) *with* (Farm Policy, R. p. 19).

4). According to the South Carolina Supreme Court, the four most common forms of “other insurance” clauses are:

(1) the “pro rata” clause, which provides that the insurer will pay its share of the loss in the proportion its policy limits relates to the aggregate liability coverage available; (2) an **“excess” clause, which provides that an insurer will pay a loss only after other available primary insurance is exhausted;** (3) an **“escape” clause, which provides that an insurer is absolved of all liability if other coverage is available;** and (4) an “excess escape” clause, which provides that the insurer is liable for that amount of a loss exceeding other available coverage and that the insurer is not liable when other available insurance has limits equal to or greater than its own.

South Carolina Ins. Co., 327 S.C. at 211–12, 489 S.E.2d at 202 (emphasis added).

The Homeowners Policy’s “other insurance” provision provides:

Other Insurance – Coverage E – Personal Liability. This insurance is excess over other valid and collectible insurance except insurance written specifically to cover as excess over the limits of liability that apply in this policy.

(Homeowners Policy, R. pp. 223-224). As the Circuit Court correctly recognized, this is an **“excess”** clause. See (R. p. 4 ¶ D); see also *S.C. Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co. v. S.E.C.U.R.E. Underwriters Risk Retention Grp.*, 353 S.C. 249, 254, 578 S.E.2d 8, 11 (2003) (labeling this exact “other insurance” provision as an “excess” provision).

The Farm Policy’s “Other Insurance” provision states that “this Policy does not apply to any loss or damage or defense against a “suit” which is covered under any other policy... or [w]ould be covered under another policy...had the limits of such policy not been exhausted.” (Farm Policy, R. p. 464). This is an **“escape”** clause – one that provides that “an insurer is absolved of all liability if other coverage is available.” See *South Carolina Ins. Co.*, 327 S.C. at 211–12, 489 S.E.2d at 202; see also (October 27, 2025 Order, R. p. 2) (recognizing this as “escape” language).

The Circuit Court cited only one case for its legal conclusion that the excess clause in the Homeowners Policy and the escape clause in the Farm Policy are “mutually repugnant” – *South*

Carolina Ins. Co. v. Fid. & Guar. Ins. Underwriters, Inc., 327 S.C. 207, 489 S.E.2d 200 (1997). However, that case involved two excess provisions – not an excess provision v. an escape provision. *Id.* at 212, 489 S.E.2d at 202 (“[I]n this matter we have a competition between two ‘excess’ ‘other insurance’ clauses....”). The South Carolina Supreme Court cases dealing with escape clauses have enforced them. *See, e.g., Spann v. Phoenix Ins. Co. of Hartford, Conn.*, 83 S.C. 262, 65 S.E. 232 (1909).

The only other case the Circuit Court cited in its Order – *South Carolina Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co. v. S.E.C.U.R.E. Underwriters Risk Retention Grp.* – involved a primary and excess clause and found those clauses were “not mutually repugnant.” 353 S.C. 249, 254, 578 S.E.2d 8, 11 (2003) (“Under the plain language of SECURE’s ‘other insurance’ clause, its insurance is primary. Under the plain language of Farm Bureau’s ‘other insurance’ clause, its insurance is ‘excess.’ Because these two provisions are not mutually repugnant, it was unnecessary to apply the ‘total policy insuring intent’ rule to allocate priority between the two carriers.”).

Additionally, courts in other jurisdictions do not find an escape clause and an excess clause mutually repugnant. *See, e.g., Hodgen v. Forest Oil Corp.*, 862 F. Supp. 1567, 1577 n. 43 (W.D. La. 1994) (reviewing three policies – one with a pro-rata other insurance clause, one with an excess other insurance clause, and one with an escape other insurance clause – and holding that “[s]ince neither clause is mutually repugnant from the... ‘escape’ clause, we find that the escape clause may be enforced”); *State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Burgin*, 752 F. Supp. 877, 884-86 (W.D. Ark. 1990) (comparing two policies, one with an excess other insurance clause and one with an escape other insurance clause, and enforcing the escape clause); *State Auto. Mut. Ins. Co. v. Ryder Truck Rental, Inc.*, 627 So. 2d 1326, 1327 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1993) (same).

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