THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

Jun 10 2026

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LANCASTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Robert E. Hood, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2026-000227

South Carolina Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co.Appellant,

v.

John Milin and Angela M. Leone Respondents.

RESPONDENT JOHN MILIN'S INITIAL BRIEF

Thomas E. Pope, SC Bar No.: 11289
Zachary D. Griffin, SC Bar No.: 105225
Elrod Pope Law Firm, P.A.
212 E. Black St.
Rock Hill, SC 29730
(803) 324-7574 (T)
(803) 324-7545 (F)
tpope@elrodpope.com
zach@elrodpope.com
Attorneys for Respondent John Milin

James D. George, Jr., SC Bar No.: 103634
Smith, Born, Leventis, Taylor & Vega, LLC

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

Argument

The insured purchased two liability insurance policies from Farm Bureau. Those policies contain “other insurance” clauses, which create a circular conflict and leave the insured with no primary coverage, despite the purchase of two policies.¹ Consistent with South Carolina law and as required to prevent the policies from only providing the illusion of coverage, the circuit court correctly found the “other insurance” clauses mutually repugnant and, therefore, disregarded the clauses.

The circuit court’s order should be affirmed. To hold otherwise is to allow two mutually repugnant clauses to create illusory coverage, despite the insured’s attempt to be sufficiently insured. The Homeowners Policy’s “excess” framework directly conflicts with the “escape” framework in the Farm Policy, resulting in no primary coverage at all. Therefore, under South Carolina law, the circuit court correctly found the clauses mutually repugnant. Farm Bureau’s proposed interpretation violates the insured’s reasonable expectations, allows Farm Bureau to improperly profit from collection of premiums for policies that provide no coverage,² and disrupts settled public policy. Furthermore, the cases relied upon by Farm Bureau are inapplicable to the policies at issue here, as they involve coverages not relevant to this case. Therefore, the circuit court’s holding must be affirmed.

¹ “Three types of other insurance clauses limit the insurer's obligation. For example, a pro-rata other insurance clause provides that the insurer will pay its share of the loss in the proportion its policy limits relates to the aggregate liability coverage available. An excess other insurance clause provides that an insurer will pay a loss only after other available primary insurance is exhausted, and the “escape clause” provides that an insurer is absolved of all liability where other coverage is available.” *Am. Auto. Ins. Co. v. First Mercury Ins. Co.*, No. 13-cv-349 MCA/LF, 2017 WL 3575882 (D.N.M. Mar. 31, 2017) (internal citations omitted).

² Farm Bureau asserts it “was aware of its other policy issued to this insured when setting the premium rates for the policies,” but provides no support for that assertion, beyond showing the policies were issued by the same Farm Bureau agent. (FB Brief § I, p. 8).

I. The circuit court correctly disregarded the Homeowners Policy’s “excess clause” and the Farm Policy’s “escape clause” because they create a circular conflict, rendering the clauses mutually repugnant.

The circuit court correctly categorized the conflict between the “other insurance” clauses as a circular conflict, properly recognized the clauses as mutually repugnant, and correctly disregarded both clauses. Both policies—the Homeowners Policy and the Farm Policy—defer coverage to the other policy, leaving the insured without primary coverage despite paying two separate premiums. (Setcavage Report, p. 6 (“This creates an insurance paradox: the escape policy disclaims coverage due to the existence of the other policy, and the excess policy refuses to pay until the first policy is exhausted.”)).

“If two or more policies insure the same entity against the same risk to the same object, the policies are concurrent, and losses are prorated between the insurers who issued the policies.” *South Carolina Ins. Co. v. Fid. & Guar. Ins. Underwriters, Inc.*, 327 S.C. 207, 213, 489 S.E.2d 200, 204 (1997). “If both policies...contain language evincing an intent to provide primary coverage, that one policy may be somewhat more specific than another usually should make no difference.” *Id.* at 214, 489 S.E.2d at 204. If policy language is clear and unambiguous, the language alone determines the force and effect. *Sphere Drake Ins. Co. v. Litchfield*, 313 S.C. 471, 473, 438 S.E.2d 275, 277 (Ct. App. 1993). However, a policy interpretation cannot read clauses in isolation or disregard policy language. *MGC Mgmt., Inc. v. Kinghorn Ins. Agency*, 336 S.C. 542, 549, 520 S.E.2d 820, 823 (1999); (Setcavage Report, p. 5 (“[C]laim professionals are trained that the two ‘other insurance’ clauses must be read together rather than separately.”)). Conflicting “excess” “other insurance” clauses should generally cancel each other out if the interpretation is consistent with the plain meaning of the policy. *S.C. Ins. Co. v. Fid. & Guar. Ins.* at 215, 489 S.E.2d at 204. The South Carolina supreme court explicitly grouped “escape clauses” and “excess

clauses” as “other insurance policies.” *Id.* at 211-12, 489 S.E.2d at 202 (“An excess clause provides coverage only after other available primary insurance is exhausted. In contrast, an escape clause absolves an insurer of liability if other coverage is available.”).

Here, Farm Bureau provided two separate policies, each with an “other insurance” clause. The Homeowners Policy includes an “excess clause”: “This insurance is excess over other valid and collectible insurance except insurance written specifically to cover as excess” (Homeowners Policy pp. 49-50). In comparison, the Farm Policy includes an “escape clause”: “This Policy does not apply to any loss or damage or defense against a ‘suit’ which: (1) Is covered under any policy . . . or (2) Would be covered under another policy . . . had the limits of such policy not been exhausted.” (Farm Policy, SFL 01 10 04 16). Thus, both the Homeowners Policy and the Farm Policy include an “other insurance” clause. *S.C. Ins. Co. v. Fid. & Guar. Ins.* at 211-12, 489 S.E.2d at 202.

a. The circuit court correctly labeled the combination of the “excess” and “escape” clauses as a circular conflict.

The circuit court correctly categorized the interaction between the two clauses as a “circular conflict.” *See* (October 27, 2025, Order, p. 2); *see also Schoenecker v. Haines*, 88 Wis. 2d 665, 675, 277 N.W.2d 782, 785 (1979) (describing attempts to give effect to conflicting “other insurance” clauses as a “perpetual mental merry-go-round”). If two policies cannot coexist according to their plain meaning interpretations, the policies create a circular conflict. *South Carolina Ins. Co. v. Fid. & Guar. Ins.*, 327 S.C. at 219, 489 S.E.2d at 206.

Here, a circular conflict is created because both policies provide liability coverage for an otherwise covered occurrence, but both policies contain clauses purporting to limit or escape coverage all together. The Homeowners Policy will only afford coverage after the limits of other applicable primary coverages are exhausted. The Farm Policy provides primary coverage for the

loss, but only if the loss is not covered under any other policy. Thus, according to the plain language of the “other insurance” clauses, coverage is not afforded under the Farm Policy if the Homeowners Policy applies, but the Homeowners Policy cannot apply until the limits of the Farm Policy are exhausted. Therefore, a circular conflict exists, because pursuant to the plain language of the policies, coverage is either nonexistent or turns on the order in which the policies are read.

If the Homeowners Policy and its “excess clause” is read first, it would apply only as excess coverage to the Farm Policy, and the Farm Policy would be primary because the loss is not covered under the Homeowners Policy. That reading results in \$1,000,000.00 in coverage from the Farm Policy with \$300,000.00 in excess coverage from the Homeowners Policy. On the other hand, if the Farm Policy and its “escape clause” is read first, it provides primary coverage, but only if the Homeowners Policy does not provide coverage. The Homeowners Policy provides coverage, but that coverage is excess. Therefore, both policies remain in limbo, with each policy’s coverage dependent upon the application of the other, leading to no coverage.

Farm Bureau seeks to break the circular conflict by disregarding the “excess clause” in the Homeowners Policy and tendering the \$300,000.00 in coverage under that policy. Farm Bureau must not be permitted to do so. Because “other insurance” clauses exist to apportion loss among insurers and not to diminish the insured’s recovery, Farm Bureau cannot invoke or disregard them selectively to convert its own Homeowners Policy into primary coverage and thereby trigger the Farm Policy’s “escape clause.” *See S.C. Ins. Co. v. Fidelity & Guar. Ins.*, 327 S.C. at 211, 489 S.E.2d at 202 (“other insurance” clauses are intended to apportion an insured loss between or among insurers”). The conflict between the clauses must be resolved by the court under the mutual repugnancy doctrine, not by the insurer’s unilateral election. *See Liberty Mut. Ins. Co. v. Pella Corp.*, 633 F. Supp. 2d 714, 724 (S.D. Iowa 2009) (“[U]nder well-established law, ‘other

insurance’ provisions found in policies providing primary coverage govern the relationship between insurers, and do not diminish an insured’s coverage rights under any concurrent insurance policies.”). Here, Farm Bureau argues there is no conflict between the policies because it can choose to treat the Homeowners Policy as primary, disregard its “other insurance” clause, and make payment of \$300,000.00 instead of \$1,300,000.00. However, Farm Bureau does not get to choose which policy provisions to disregard.

Most reported opinions discussing conflicting “other insurance” clauses involve policies written by two separate insurers. In that scenario, both insurers seek to stand on their “other insurance” clauses to disclaim coverage or stand as excess. Neither carrier is incentivized to pay its coverage or disregard its own “other insurance” clause. That is not the case here. Farm Bureau recognizes the two “other insurance” clauses create a conflict. To avoid disregarding both “other insurance” clauses, Farm Bureau attempts to disregard only the “excess clause” in the Homeowners Policy, so it can argue its insured is only insured up to \$300,000.00 for this loss. Farm Bureau wrote both policies; Farm Bureau does not get to change the terms. Moreover, the policies are written with “standardized ISO policy language so, regardless of if both policies were underwritten by the same or differing companies, the policy language would remain the same.” (Setcavage Report p. 4).

Furthermore, an interpretation that disregards the “excess clause” conflicts with Farm Bureau’s policy writing conduct. For example, Farm Bureau listed only one instance where the “excess clause” would not apply when another policy is present: “This insurance is excess over other valid and collectible insurance *except insurance written specifically to cover as excess over the limits of liability that apply in this policy.*” (Homeowners Policy pp. 49-50) (emphasis added). The exception language requires specific, unambiguous writing stating another policy operates to

specifically cover excess liability above the limits of the Homeowners Policy. However, Farm Bureau included no language in either policy indicating the “excess clause” would not apply if another policy of primary liability insurance included an “escape clause.” Simply put, if Farm Bureau did not want the “excess clause” to apply, it would have included language indicating that intent. Thus, the circuit court correctly labeled the two clauses as creating a circular conflict.

b. The circuit court correctly disregarded both “other insurance” clauses as mutually repugnant.

In *S.C. Ins. Co. v. Fid. & Guar. Ins.*, the supreme court disregarded similar conflicting “other insurance” clauses as “mutually repugnant” when the combined effect of two “excess clauses” left the insured without primary coverage. *Id.* at 218, 489 S.E.2d at 205-06. The court reasoned it could not reconcile the two clauses because both policies facially provided primary coverage but deferred coverage when another policy was present. *Id.* at 217, 489 S.E.2d at 205. Thus, the court disregarded both clauses, treating each policy as providing co-primary coverage. *Id.* at 219, 489 S.E.2d at 206. The circuit court in the case *sub judice* properly did the same.

Likewise, multiple jurisdictions break circular conflicts between “other insurance” clauses by disregarding both clauses. This includes circular conflicts created by “excess” and “escape clauses,” like those present here. *See Hardware Dealers Mut. Fire Ins. Co. v. Farmers Ins. Exch.*, 444 S.W.2d 583, 589-90 (Tex. 1969) (refusing to enforce conflicting “excess” and “escape clauses” when the combined effect leaves the insured without coverage, holding a specific “excess clause” and a specific “escape clause” mutually repugnant, ignoring both, and prorating the loss so the insured retained coverage under both policies); *Dette v. Covington Motors, Inc.*, 426 So.2d 718, 720 (La. Ct. App. 1st Cir. 1983) (“Louisiana jurisprudence has determined that in such circumstances “excess” and “escape clauses” are considered mutually repugnant and consequently ineffective”); *see also Home Ins. Co. v. Liberty Mut. Ins. Co.*, 641 N.E.2d 855, 857 (Ill. App. Ct.

1994). Therefore, the circuit court's order is consistent with South Carolina law regarding conflicting "other insurance" clauses and is consistent with the appellate courts of outside jurisdictions that were tasked with interpreting similar "escape" and "excess clauses."

Accordingly, the circuit court properly disregarded the conflicting "other insurance" clauses as mutually repugnant.³ The two "other insurance" clauses defer coverage to the other policy, resulting in no applicable primary coverage. As in *S.C. Ins. Co. v. Fid. & Guar. Ins.*, where two "excess clauses" could not simultaneously operate, the "excess clause" and the "escape clause" cannot coexist according to their plain meaning. Thus, to avoid the circular conflict problem, the proper mechanism under *S.C. Ins. Co. v. Fid. & Guar. Ins.* is to disregard both clauses as mutually repugnant. That case involved two "excess clauses," but the underlying principle applies directly to the issue in this case: Conflicting "other insurance" clauses are mutually repugnant when they combine to eliminate primary coverage. The "other insurance" framework in these policies cannot coexist according to their plain meanings without depriving the insured of all primary coverage. Thus, the circuit court correctly disregarded the "other insurance" clauses as mutually repugnant.

Moreover, Farm Bureau's reliance on *Spann*, *Camden Wholesale Grocery*, *Young*, and *Walker* is misplaced. Each is a century-old first-party fire-insurance case addressing a forfeiture

³ Courts typically break circular conflicts between "other insurance" clauses by either disregarding the "escape clause" or disregarding both "other insurance" clauses as mutually repugnant. (Setcavage Report p. 7). In the present action, the outcome is the same regardless of how the circular conflict is broken. Disregarding only the "escape clause" leaves Farm Bureau paying \$1,000,000.00 on the Farm Policy as primary coverage and paying \$300,000.00 on the Homeowners Policy as excess. Disregarding both clauses leaves co-primary policies, with the Farm Policy indemnifying 10/13 of the loss and the Homeowners Policy indemnifying 3/13 of the loss, up to the policies limits. In either case, Farm Bureau is the carrier paying the claim. Moreover, "the probable value [of this claim] exceeds all available coverages of \$1,300,000.00, whether a court decides each must pay a pro rata or whether the Farm [Policy] (\$1,000,000.00) is deemed primary, it is a moot point for the purposes of this claim." (Setcavage Report p. 8).

clause that rendered the entire property policy void if the insured procured *any* additional insurance on the same property. See *Spann v. Phoenix Ins. Co. of Hartford*, 83 S.C. 262, 65 S.E. 232 (1909); *Camden Wholesale Grocery v. Nat'l Fire Ins. Co.*, 106 S.C. 467, 91 S.E. 732 (1917); *Young v. St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co.*, 68 S.C. 387, 47 S.E. 681 (1904); *Walker v. Queen Ins. Co.*, 136 S.C. 144, 134 S.E. 263 (1926). Those clauses served the anti-fraud function unique to property insurance of discouraging an owner from over-insuring property and then destroying it for gain. As this Court explained in *S.C. Ins. Co. v. Fid. & Guar.*, “other insurance” clauses “began their lives as an attempt to prevent fraud in the over insuring of property,” but are “now . . . widely used in many other types of insurance policies where fraud by over insurance would not be a possibility.” 327 S.C. at 211, 489 S.E.2d at 202; accord *Hardware Dealers Mut. Fire Ins. Co. v. Farmers Ins. Exch.*, 444 S.W.2d 583, 586 (Tex. 1969) (recognizing that “other insurance” provisions “began in the area of property insurance” and “have generally been treated differently” in the liability context).

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